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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

Ropren Sales

Solagran’s registered pharmaceutical, Ropren, has been available on the Russian market since early 2010. Since this 
period Solagran participated in dozens of diff erent symposiums and conferences in both Russia and in International 
forums.  We published a great deal of scientifi c materials and we did additional medical research about the effi  cacy 
of the product in diff erent leading medical institutions.  I am confi dent that we are continuing our success in creating 
a better and deeper understanding about the quality and uniqueness of the product. Th ough sales volumes to date 
haven’t met expectations, a signifi cant amount of work has been undertaken to lay the foundation for material sales 
of the product in the near future.  

List of Life Necessary Medicines

Solagran has made a submission for its registered pharmaceutical, Ropren, to be included on the list of “Life 
Necessary Medicines” in Russia which is similar to the Australian Pharmaceutical Benefi ts Scheme (PBS) that 
subsidises prescription drugs to make them more aff ordable for hospitals and private individuals.  Th e Committee 
which makes the fi nal decision about the inclusion will do so in November this year.  Once the inclusion is approved, 
sales of Ropren under the Government scheme will start from February 2012.  Admission to the list will allow 
hospitals to purchase and prescribe Ropren widely for the treatment of diff erent types of liver conditions including 
Hepatitis B & C, non-fatty liver disorders and alcohol induced liver cirrhosis and neuropathy.  In addition, with the 
eff ort of our medical team in Russia, Ropren has also been included in a broad variety of programs that subsidise the 
purchase of the product which will also support sales. 

Re-launch of Siberian Red and Bioeff ective Gel

Solagran appointed Siebelco Pty Ltd as Sales and Marketing Partners to assist with the introduction of its Siberian 
Red drink which is rich with trace elements including chromium and is a great source of a water soluble compound 
of iron with maltol that is extremely eff ective for the treatment of iron defi ciency (anaemic conditions), and 
Bioeff ective Gel (which contains 7% of CGNC- the main active ingredient in Bioeff ective A) into retail pharmacy. 
Following a redesign of the packaging for both products, Siberian Red and Bioeff ective Gel were launched to the 
retail pharmacy sector in September 2011. Th e products are now being stocked nationally through Chemmart stores 
and Amcal Max (combined outlets exceed 300) with plans to increase to 1,000 outlets by the end of 2011.

Solagran currently has a further 3 products specifi cally targeted towards the retail pharmacy sector in the fi nal stages 
of development. Th ey will be introduced once sales of Siberian Red and Bioeff ective Gel reach suffi  cient scale to 
justify increased investment in this sector.

A message from The Executive Chairman 
As most of you are aware, Solagran is a unique company whose 
foundation goes back to scientifi c research that commenced at the 
State Forest Technical Academy in St Petersburg in the 1930’s. Over 
the last 80 years, an enormous volume of research, development, 
pre-clinical and clinical trials, has been completed forming the 
foundation of the company today and creating many opportunities 
for development of a range of new products with diff erent 
spectrum      of applications.  Th e year 2010/2011 has realised 
many achievements in diff erent areas: science, trials, creating and 
enhancing awareness in the medical community about the products 
and in the uniqueness of the business model development between 
Russia and Australia.  Th ough not refl ected in the fi nancial results 
at this stage, much has been accomplished in the preceding 12 
months on both a commercial and scientifi c level.  I would like to 
present to you the following report for your consideration.

Commercial Developments
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

Biotech Facility – Vishney Volochok

Th e acquisition of the CGNC (Conifer Green Needle Complex) production facility in 2010/11 was driven by 
the need to ensure the right raw materials, continuity of supply, consistent quality and stability of the substance 
which obviously will characterise the CGNC approved by our TGA. Other products which can be used instead e.g. 
Chlorophyll Carotene Paste (CCP) do not satisfy the TGA’s compositional Guidelines.  CCP was used for cosmetic 
purposes and has never been registered for medical applications. Since the acquisition, Solagran has completed a 
reconstruction of the entire production line which has produced a two-fold benefi t. Th e plant’s capacity has been 
increased with the corresponding cost per kg/tone of the product falling.

CGNC will continue to be produced at this facility for supply to Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia and the UAE. 
Solagran Son has also commenced supplying bulk substance to a cosmetics supplier in Russia and has continued to 
explore other markets within Russia and internationally. It also opens up the capacity for Solagran to produce other 
Bioeff ective products e.g. Bioeff ective N, V, L and others.

Meeting with Russian Prime Minister Mr. Vladimir Putin

Solagran director, Mr. Alexander Kurganov, met with the Russian Prime Minister Mr. Vladimir Putin when he 
visited the Tomsk Special Economic Zone in March this year. Mr. Kurganov passed a letter to Mr. Putin which 
outlined the importance of the medical substances being developed by Solagran and the obstacles then Company 
faced in achieving widespread distribution of its products. Mr. Putin indicated he would read the letter and forward 
it to the current Minister for Health.

In April, Solagran was forwarded a copy of a resolution signed by Mr. Putin stating “Please consider and support”. 
Th e resolution had been directed to the Ministry for Health and Social Development, the Ministry for Industry and 
Trade, the Ministry for Economic Development and the Russian Federal Committee of Fair Trade.

Th e commercial benefi ts to Solagran of Mr. Putin’s directive should not be underestimated. It has been a signifi cant 
factor in gaining the support of the Scientifi c-Technical Council of the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian 
Federation to whom we submitted an application for a government grant for further research and development 
under the umbrella of creating and marketing innovative pharmaceutical products.  We expect that further benefi ts 
will be realised over the coming 12 months.

Bioeff ective A in Malaysia

Bioeff ective A under the NuvaPine brand was introduced to Malaysia in late 2010. My colleague Bob Wootton (Sales 
and Marketing Manager) and I attended the offi  cial launch of the product in May of this year. Solagran is very 
pleased with the traction the product has gained in less than 12 months and looks forward to working with its local 
distributor, Nuvanta, to gradually expand the product off ering in that market. At the time of writing this report, the 
fi ft h batch of Bioeff ective A for the Malaysian market is being produced in Melbourne

Bioeff ective A in the United Arab Emirates

Bioeff ective A was approved by the UAE Ministry of Health in May this year. Th e product is currently stocked by 
pharmacies in the UAE. Initial feedback from medical practitioners who already trialed the product has been very 
positive. Launch symposiums for medical practitioners and pharmacists will be held in Dubai and Abu Dhabi from 
the 10th of October. Once the product is established in the UAE, we will we seek to expand its distribution to other 
countries within the region.

GMP Production Facility in Tomsk Special Economic Zone

In mid-2011 Solagran commenced preparatory work on the site for the GMP production facility in the Tomsk 
Special Economic Zone. Th is has involved clearing and leveling the site ahead of full scale construction work in early 
2012.  Th e project is ready for submission to the Tomsk Head Expert Committee for thorough investigation and 
approval.  It will take up to three months of expert investigations on the basis of what’s proposed and agreed. We 
are required to make an initial payment with the submission and will be given ten days to rectify any problems that 
appear, without additional cost.  If more than 10 days are needed, we will incur a further 30% of the initial outlay.
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

Bioeff ective A Registration in the USA

Work has continued over the last 12 months towards having Bioeff ective A cleared for use by the Food and Drug 
Administration in the USA. We are disappointed that despite representations from our regulatory advisors in the US 
that the product would be cleared for use in late 2010, fi nal approval has not been gained to date. Prior to fi nalising 
approval of the application, the FDA requested to have an opinion from an independent, highly qualifi ed, scientist, 
certifi ed for conducting medical trials and an organisation with GCP and GLP certifi cation, on the data presented. 
Solagran will be informed as to the person and organisation that will be appointed before the 10th of October and a 
written report for the FDA and Solagran is expected to be received by mid-November.  

Pine Pure Range in Indonesia

Over the last 12 months Solagran has continued to work on the introduction of the Pine Pure range into Indonesia. 
It has been determined, in consultation with a local pharmaceutical manufacturer and distributor that the most 
eff ective means of entering the Indonesian market, is to conduct local trials to prove the effi  cacy of our products. 
Trial results endorsed by the local medical community will create awareness for the new class of substances and 
assist with the introduction of the products in that country.  We created drinks with special qualities and properties, 
lollies, food enhancers in a form which can be added to any type of food, and biologically active substances for 
hepato and gastric conditions.  At this stage Solagran is fi nalising the protocol of clinical trials with an Indonesian 
Pharmaceutical company, to evaluate the effi  cacy of LiverChronic 88 (Hepato), Solagran’s new product for the 
prevention and treatment of diff erent liver conditions including Hep C.  Th is product is a concentrate of polyprenols 
of 88% purity.
Scientifi c Developments

Evaluation of Ropren by Professor Minushkin

In its market announcements of 21 December 2010 and 18 May 2011, Solagran provided details of trials 
completed under Professor Oleg Minushkin, Head of the Chair of Gastroenterology, Chief Gastroenterologist of the 
Administrative Department for the President of the Russian Federation.

An extract of Professor Minushkin’s written comments is provided below.

“Following the clinical trials, a positive opinion of the drug Ropren was formed. Comparative data against leading 
hepatoprotectors highlights the advantages of the drug. Th e Ropren preparation stabilizes the cell membrane of 
hepatocytes and restores the sensitivity of the receptor apparatus of the cell. Ropren has the capability to infl uence 
not only the cells of the liver, but also the cells of nervous tissue of the central as well as peripheral nervous systems. 
Liver protectors with such mechanism of action do not exist today. Th is gives me reason to believe that Ropren will 
be highly sought aft er by patients and doctors alike”.

Professor Minushkin’s fi ndings are soon to be published in the Kremlin Medicine, Clinical Bulletin. We recently 
received notifi cation that the article “Polyprenols – Th e experience of alcoholics with liver cirrhosis of taking a new 
class of medical preparation” will be published in the third edition in the beginning of the fourth quarter according to 
the letter received from the publisher.

Kremlin Medicine, Clinical Bulletin is published by the Federal Government Budget Agency, Educational 
Scientifi c Medical Centre of the Administration of the President of the Russian Federation. Th is journal is 
highly prestigious and is read by the medical community within Russia and internationally.

First recognition of polyprenols as a required daily substance.

In June this year polyprenols were offi  cially recognised by the Sanitary-Epidemiological Control Body in 
Russia in their list of food and biologically active agents necessary for the human body. Th is is the fi rst time 
this class of substances was registered as an essential part of the recommended daily intake (RDI) standard 
for human consumption. Daily supply of these substances are supposed to be 10-20 mls daily to keep the 
liver intact.  Unfortunately, it’s not possible to obtain this quantity from food alone.

Th is is a signifi cant development in the life of the Company and it has plans to expand the range of 
over-the-counter supplements available in Russia and internationally. Solagran believes the registration 
provides the gateway for wider recognition of the value of polyprenols for human health and will expedite 
the introduction of the substance to mainstream pharmacy and nutrition.
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

Professor Peter Shabanov

In March/April of 2011, Professor Peter Shabanov, was fi nally in a position to accept Solagran’s invitation 
to visit the company in Melbourne. He was invited to Australia to summarise three years of study of the 
biological activity of Bioeff ectives, especially Ropren. Professor Shabanov discussed with local staff  and 
members of the Australian medical community his fi ndings from experimental trials conducted under 
supervision using Ropren. In collaboration with myself and Professor Viktor Roschin, he commenced 
writing a book “Pharmacology of Polyprenols” which is in the fi nal stages of editing and will be published 
in Russia shortly. Once it will be accepted by the publisher, it will be translated into English for wider 
distribution.

Professor Shabanov has been retained by Solagran on a consultancy basis. He presented results of some of 
his experiences trialing Ropren at two diff erent symposiums: 

• 15th International Congress Phytopharm  25-27 July, 2011 in Nuremburg, Germany, on 
“Pharmacology of polyprenol-containing drugs: focus on Hepatoprotective, neuroprotective; and 

• 24th Congress of the European College of Neuropsycho-Pharmacology, 3-7 September, 2011 in 
Paris, France on the “Neuroprotective and anti-ischemic eff ects of Ropren in ischemia of the brain 
in rats”.

Professor Shabanov is one of Russia’s leading pharmacologists and is currently Head of the Pharmacology 
Department at the Kirov S.M. Military Medical Academy in St Petersburg.

Scientifi c –Technical Council of the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian Federation

Th e Scientifi c-Technical Council of the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian Federation aims to 
provide grants for the development of the chemical, medical and pharmaceutical industry in Russia.

From an initial list of over 100 projects requesting fi nancial assistance from Th e Council for further 
scientifi c research and development, only 9 including the Solagran project remain under consideration. 
Solagran’s representatives have twice presented before meetings of the Council and following their last 
meeting were instructed to provide some additional information before the fi nal decision on funding is 
made by the end of 2011.

Innovation Centre of Skolkovo 

As advised in our announcement of 8 September 2011, Solagran was invited to apply for membership to 
the Innovation Centre of Skolkovo. Th e Centre, established under the direction of Russian President Mr. 
Dmitriy Medvedev, was created to promote the development of scientifi c and technological innovations 
including the medical and pharmaceutical industry. 

Membership of the Centre will provide Solagran with access to government funding for research and 
development of new technologies and new pharmaceutical products utilising Bioeff ectives and to expand 
the applications of its existing products, especially Ropren.  Membership will also provide the Solagran 
companies with a range of ongoing taxation and customs duties benefi ts.

Th e Company expects a decision on its membership application prior to the end of 2011.
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Poultry Trials

A Bioeff ective A (CGNC) poultry trial was conducted by Solagran in Asia in collaboration with a 
Government research institute, which produced highly encouraging results. Th e addition of CGNC as an 
additive to the feedstock of poultry has indicated it signifi cantly reduces the time necessary to reach the 
target weight per bird of 2.2 kg. Any reduction in time has the eff ect of increasing the annual yield per 
farm. 

Eff ect on Hemoglobin & Haematocrit

· Supportive eff ect on hemoglobin production indicates possibility of immunity stimulation 
property with CGNC.

· Due to high level of hemoglobin with CGNC, losses of hemoglobin can be compensated during 
coccidiosis and hemorrhagic syndrome disorder etc.

· Comparative increasing level of haematocrit with the eff ect of CGNC, issue of Ascites due to 
cold stress can be addressed.

In addition to the eff ect on body weight, CGNC has a positive eff ect on feed conversion ratio. Bioeff ectives 
have been observed to impact the feed intake.   No mortality rate was observed in the CGNC group (at 
0.5% of CGNC) in comparison with a high mortality rate (15%) observed in the control group. Solagran 
believes the potential for CGNC in this sector is massive and will seek to begin commercial sale of product 
within 6 months.

Strategic Partner Negotiations

In the last six months, Solagran exchanged letters and information, signed a confi dentiality agreement 
and moved to the stage of negotiating a relationship with a State owned company which Solagran believes 
has the potential to be our strategic partner.  It’s an exciting development in the life of Solagran, especially 
taking into consideration mutual interests of the company, government support and access to government 
funds.  Th e other side expressed, in their last communication, great interest in investing in our production 
facility in the Special Economic Zone in Tomsk and in mutual distribution and sale of Ropren as well as 
other Solagran products, both in Russia and worldwide.  I’ve received an invitation to visit Moscow for the 
fi nalisation of the next stage of our agreement.  Aft er my visit to Moscow, I will travel to be at the launch 
of Bioeff ective A in the Emirates and subsequently meet with the relevant group of people in Asia, with the 
aim of practical utilisation of CGNC in the poultry industry.  Th ese are large and very exciting projects 
which are the culmination of many years of the Company’s eff orts to realise its vision and potential.

I would like to thank all shareholders for their ongoing trust and support. I believe that the coming 12 
months will see shareholders rewarded for their patience as the Company moves into its next stage of 
development, fully realising a manifestation of success.

Yours sincerely

Dr Vagif Soultanov

Executive Chairman
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Solagran Limited (“the Company”) 
and its controlled entities (Solathera Limited, Solagran Netherlands BV, SibEX LLC, Solagran Son LLC, Solagift 
LLC and Biotech LLC) for the year ended 30 June 2011.

Directors

The names, qualifi cations, experience and special responsibilities of the directors in offi ce during the fi nancial 
year and as at the date of this report are listed below.  All directors, unless otherwise stated, were in offi ce 
from the beginning of the fi nancial period until the date of this report.  Directors have not held directorships in 
other listed public companies in the three years prior to 30 June 2011 unless stated otherwise.

Current Directors

Dr. Vagif Soultanov – Executive Chairman
Dr. Soultanov is the principal founder of Solagran and led the Bioeffectives® research team 
in St Petersburg in the 1980s. He has doctoral qualifi cations in both organic chemistry 
and biochemistry, and is a registered medical practitioner in Russia. He fi rst came to 
Australia in 1990 to work with the CSIRO Division of Forest Products as part of an inter-
governmental scientifi c exchange program. He has published over 60 scientifi c papers in 
Russia and internationally and holds a number of patents.
Dr. Soultanov is Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and responsible for the 
Research and Development activities of Solagran Limited.

Alexander Kurganov – Executive Director 
Alexander Kurganov is General Director of SibEX LLC based in Tomsk Siberia, the 100% 
owned subsidiary of Solagran, Australia. He has been a lecturer in science at the Tomsk 
Polytechnic University and has 5 patents (Russian Federation) and 21 publications. He 
directed the construction of the world’s fi rst facility to produce polyprenols from conifer 
species.

David Croll – Executive Director (appointed 28 July 2010)
David Croll completed a Bachelor or Business (Double Major in Accounting and Business 
Law) at Curtin University in 1989 and qualifi ed as a Chartered Accountant in 1993. Mr 
Croll then moved to the United Kingdom where he spent two years working as a Finance 
Manager for a division of Prudential Financial Services. Upon returning to Australia in 1996, 
he spent 12 years in Sydney in a variety of fi nancial and managerial roles with Salomon 
Smith Barney (now Citigroup), Hartley Poynton and the Rivkin Group. In his last role he 
was employed as a portfolio manager of a boutique investment manager trading Australian 
and international equities. 
Mr Croll has assumed responsibility for all fi nancial matters pertaining to the Solagran 
entities. 

Andi Solaiman – Non-Executive Director 
Andi Solaiman (B. Bus., MBA) holds a number of senior positions within the Salim Group.  
He is a director of AsiaMedic Limited, Interfl our Holdings Limited and Universal Integrated 
Corporation Consumer Products Pte. Ltd.  He is also the President Director and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of PT Indokemika Jayatama.
Mr Solaiman completed the executive program at the University of Pennsylvania – 
Wharton Business School in 2005. He currently resides in both Singapore and Jakarta 
where the Salim Group’s main administrative offi ces are located.
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Previous Directors

Branko Jovanovic – Director (resigned 28 July 2010)
Mr. Jovanovic is a former diplomat and the Director in various European companies. Before joining Solagran, he was 
the Trade Development Manager and Business Council Executive Director for Russia, Thailand and Malaysia with the 
Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry. He has extensive experience in international trade and speaks fi ve 
languages including fl uent Russian.
Mr. Jovanovic was the Company’s Chief Executive and was responsible for the management, strategic planning and 
commercial objectives of Solagran Limited.

Company Secretary

Justyn Stedwell (appointed 9 July 2009)
Mr. Stedwell has completed a Bachelor of Business & Commerce at Monash University and a Graduate Diploma in 
Applied Corporate Governance with Chartered Secretaries Australia and a Graduate Diploma of Accounting at 
Deakin University.
Mr Stedwell is a professional Company Secretary with fi ve years experience acting as a Company Secretary in ASX 
listed companies in various industries. He is also currently the Company Secretary of ASX listed companies Fortis 
Mining Limited, Annitel Group and Helicon Group Limited.
Directors’ Meetings
The company held 6 directors’ meetings during the 2010-2011 year.  The attendance of the directors at meetings of 
the Board were:

Current Directors Directors meetings attended Meetings held whilst in offi ce
Dr Vagif Soultanov 6 6

Mr Alexander Kurganov 5 6

Mr Andi Solaiman 1 6

Mr David Croll 6 6

Former Directors

Mr Branko Jovanovic 1 1

Directors’ Interests in Shares.

The relevant interests of each Director in the share capital of the Company as the date of this report are as follows:

Director
Ordinary Shares

Directly Held

Ordinary Shares

Indirectly held
Dr Vagif Soultanov 2,815,391 4,921,034

Mr Alexander Kurganov - 4,500,000

Mr Andi Solaiman - -

Mr David Croll - -

Directors’ Interest in Options

Director Number of Options Exercise Price Expiry

Dr Vagif Soultanov 3,400,000 $0.50 30 November 2011
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Directors Interest in Contracts

The director’s of Solagran have no interest in contracts relating to shares in Solagran.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are the continuing research and commercial development of Bioeffectives® 
along with the extension of patent protection for the extraction and applications of Bioeffectives®.  

There were no signifi cant changes in the nature of the Group’s activities during the current year.

Dividends

The Directors recommend that no dividend be paid. No amounts have been paid as dividends during the fi nancial 
year and up to the date of this report.

Operating Results

The consolidated net loss of the Company for the fi nancial year was $9,103,863 (2010 - loss $4,548,007).

Review of Operations

Throughout the year the Group continued its focus on research and development, production and marketing of its 
range of Bioeffective products. The products are currently available in Russia, Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia and 
the United Arab Emirates.
Commercialisation of Products

During the fi nancial year the Company continued clinical studies, research and market development plans in 
accordance with its stated objective of completing the commercialisation process of Bioeffectives®  A, B, I and R.

Corporate Structure

Solagran is a Company Limited by shares that is incorporated in Australia.  Solagran has prepared a consolidated 
fi nancial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during the fi nancial year.

Signifi cant Changes in the State of Affairs

Share issues during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Ordinary Shares

Date Note Number of 
Shares Issued Event

23 December 2010 17 44,218,572 Private Placement

30 December 2010 17 10,662 Issued upon exercise of unlisted options

13 April 2011 17 1,500,000 Shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of the 
remaining 15% of SibEX.

Options

The following options are currently on issue as at the date of this report:

Number of Options Exercise Price ($) Expiry

3,400,000 $0.50 30 November 2011

No options were issued during the year and up to the date of this report.

No options lapsed during the year and up to the date of this report.

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year

There are no material matters that have occurred between the end of the fi nancial year and the time of signing this 
report.
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Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations

The company is in advanced negotiations with a Russian government supported joint venture partner, which if 
successful will result in a signifi cant improvement in revenue over the next three years.

Environmental Regulation

The Directors have considered compliance with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 which 
requires entities to report annual greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. For the measurement period 1 July 
2010 to 30 June 2011 the directors have assessed that there are no current reporting requirements, but may be 
required to do so in the future. In Tomsk, SiBEX complies with certain environmental regulations relating to the 
collection of raw materials under an agreement with local regulatory authorities.

Directors and Offi cers Insurance 

During the fi nancial year, the Group has paid an insurance premium in respect of a Directors’ and Offi cers’ Liability 
Insurance Contract.  The insurance premium relates to liabilities that may arise from an offi cer’s position, with the 
exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or improper use of information or position to gain personal 
advantage.

The offi cers covered by the insurance policies are directors and offi cers of the Group.

The contract of insurance prohibits the disclosure of the nature of the liabilities and the amount of the premium.

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company

There are no proceedings on behalf of the Company pursuant to section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

15

REMUNERATION REPORT
Remuneration Report (Audited)

The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by Section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

The Board reviews the remuneration packages and policies applicable to the Directors and other offi cers of the 
Company on an annual basis. Where necessary the Board obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of 
remuneration packages. 

Non-Executive Directors

Fees and payments to non-executive directors refl ect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities 
of, the directors. Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Board has 
received advice of independent remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive directors’ fees and payments are 
appropriate and in line with the market.   

The maximum pool to be paid to Non-Executive Directors is agreed at the Annual General Meeting and is currently 
$180,000.

Executive Remuneration

Executive remuneration and other terms of reference are reviewed annually by the Board and are set at fair market 
value and not the performance of the Company. Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fi xed 
component of pay and rewards. Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay is 
competitive with the market. An executive’s pay is also reviewed upon promotion. There are no guaranteed base pay 
increases fi xed in any senior executive’s contract.

b) Details of remuneration 

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director of Solagran Limited and the 
offi cers of the Company for the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2011 are set out in the following pages:

2011

Name Position
Held

Short-term 
Employee Benefi ts

Long-
term 

Benefi ts

Post 
Employment 

Benefi ts

Share Based 
Payments Total

Salary 
and Fees Other Superannuation

Dr Vagif 
Soultanov

1. Executive 
Chairman - - - - - -

Mr Alexander 
Kurganov

2. Executive 
Director

78,542 - - - - 78,542

Mr David 
Croll*

3. Executive 
Director 160,000 - - 14,400 - 174,400

Mr Branko 
Jovanovic**

4. CEO / 
Executive 
Director

5,734- - - 516 - 6,250

Mr Andi 
Solaiman

5. Non-
Executive  
Director

- - - - - -

Total 244,276 - - 14,916 - 259,192

*Mr Croll was appointed to the Board of Solagran Limited on 28 July 2010. Prior to joining the board he was 
Solagran’s Chief Financial Offi cer. His total remuneration for 2010/11 is detailed above.

**Mr Jovanovic resigned from the Board of Solagran Limited on 28 July 2010. The remuneration detailed above 
represents July 2010 only.

None of the remuneration in the above table is performance based or consists of options.
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2010

Name Position
Held

Short-term 
Employee Benefi ts

Long-
term 

Benefi ts

Post 
Employment 

Benefi ts

Share 
Based 

Payments
Total

Salary 
and Fees Other Superannuation

Dr Vagif 
Soultanov

1. Executive 
Chairman - - - - - -

Mr 
Alexander 
Kurganov

2. Executive 
Director 55,741 - - - - 55,741

Mr 
Branko 
Jovanovic

3. CEO / 
Executive 
Director

74,229 - - 6,771 - 81,000

Mr Andi 
Solaiman*

4. Non-
Executive  
Director

- - - - - -

Dr 
Robert 
Payne**

5. Non-
Executive 
Director

- - - - - -

Total 129,970 - - 6,771 - 136,741
* Mr Andi Solaiman was appointed a director on 27 July 2009

** Dr Robert Payne resigned as a director on 1 July 2009

None of the remuneration in the above table is performance based or consists of options.

REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED)
c) Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration

2011

Name Position
Held

Short-term Employee 
Benefi ts

Long-
term 

Benefi ts

Post 
Employment 

Benefi ts

Share 
Based 

Payments

Total

Salary 
and Fees

Other - Superannuation

Mr Justyn 
Stedwell

1. Company 
Secretary

35,000 - - 3,150 - 38,150

Mr Vladimir 
Karpitsky

2. Director of 
Science – Russia

46,083 - - - - 46,083

Ms Natalia 
Arshavskaya

3. Director of 
Marketing - 
Russia

61,234 - - - - 61,234

Ms Nelli 
Shekhova

4. Head of Finance 
– Russia

65,771 - - - - 65,771

Dr Vladimir 
Trusov

5. Head of Medical 
Development - 
Russia

39,830 - - - - 39,830

Total 247,918 - - 3,150 - 251,068

None of the remuneration in the above table is performance based or consists of options.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED)2010

Name Position
Held

Short-term 
Employee Benefi ts

Long-
term 

Benefi ts

Post 
Employment 

Benefi ts

Share 
Based 

Payments

Total

Salary 
and Fees

Other - Superannuation

Mr David 
Croll*

1. Chief Financial 
Offi cer

80,000 - - 7,200 - 87,200

Mr Justyn 
Stedwell**

2. Company 
Secretary

34,484 - - 3,149 - 37,633

Mr Vladimir 
Karpitsky

3. Director of 
Science – Russia

42,654 - - - - 42,654

Ms Natalia 
Arshavskaya

4. Director of 
Marketing - 
Russia

47,004 - - - - 47,004

Ms Nelli 
Shekhova

5. Head of Finance 
– Russia

49,702 - - - - 49,702

Dr Vladimir 
Trusov***

6. Head of Medical 
Development – 
Russia

4,555 - - - - 4,555

Total 258,399 - - 10,349 - 268,748

*  Mr David Croll was appointed Chief Financial Offi cer on 29 October 2009. He was appointed to the Board of Solagran on 28 July 2010 and assumed 

the title of Finance Director.

**  Mr Justyn Stedwell was appointed Company Secretary of Solagran on 9 July 2009.

***  Mr Vladimir Trusov joined Solagran Son in May 2010.

None of the remuneration in the above table is performance based or consists of options.

c) Service agreements

Currently there are no service agreements in place between the Company and any of its Directors, however consulting 
fees and salaries are approved at board level.

d) Loans to directors and executives

There were no loans to directors or executives during the reporting period or at 30 June 2011.

e) Shares issued on the exercise of options

During the year ended 30 June 2010, Dr Vagif Soultanov exercised 2,600,000 options with a strike price 
of $0.50.  The option converted to ordinary shares on a one for one basis. Dr Soultanov holds a further 
3,400,000 options with a strike price of $0.50 expiring 30 November 2011.



18

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

f) Additional Information

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration: relationship between remuneration and company 
performance

In considering the company’s performance and its effect on shareholder wealth, the Board has regard to a 
broad range of factors some of which are fi nancial and others which relate to the progress on the Group’s 
developments.

The Board also gives consideration to the Group’s result and cash consumption for the year. It does not 
utilise earnings per share as a performance measure or contemplate payment of any dividends in the short 
to medium term given that all efforts are currently being expended to build the business and establish self-
sustaining revenue streams. 

The following is a summary of key shareholder wealth statistics for the Company over the past 5 years whilst 
it has been listed on the ASX:

Financial Year EBIT $ Share Price 
Cents

2006/07 (3,649,964) 132

2007/08 (3,762,040) 32

2008/09 (11,024,294) 9

2009/10 (4,819,573) 12

2010/11 (9,251,353) 13

End of Audited Remuneration Report
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Auditor

BDO Audit (NSW-VIC) Pty Ltd was appointed as auditor in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 
2001.

Non-audit services

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the 
auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (BDO Audit (NSW-VIC) Pty Ltd) for non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out below.  

The Board of Directors has considered the position and is satisfi ed that the provision of the non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
directors are satisfi ed that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise 
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

- all non-audit services have been reviewed by the board of directors to ensure they do not impact the 
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and

- none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

During the year the following fees for non-audit services were paid or payable for services provided by a related 
practice of the external auditors: 

2011

$

2010

$
BDO Corporate Tax (NSW-VIC) Pty Ltd - Taxation and 
Accounting Services 32,181 55,143

Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is 
set out later in this Report.

This Directors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Dated at Melbourne the 30th day of September, 2011. 

Vagif Soultanov

Executive Chairman
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY NICK MICHAEL TO THE DIRECTORS OF SOLAGRAN 
LIMITED

As lead auditor of Solagran Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief, there have been no contraventions of:

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Solagran Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

Nick Michael

Director 

BDO Audit (NSW-VIC) Pty Ltd 

Melbourne, 30 September 2011
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated

Note 2011
$

2010
$

 Revenue from continuing operations 2 1,057,336 1,270,255

Other income 2 156,565 785,799

Cost of Goods Sold (1,020,044) (1,457,093)

Administrative Expenses (662,949) (686,119)

Audit Fees (164,774) (116,013)

Bank Charges (82,099) (10,856)

Consulting Fees (138,790) (164,106)

Depreciation and Amortisation 3 (493,207) (493,553)

Employee Benefi ts Expense 3 (1,694,617) (940,094)

Foreign Currency Gains and Losses (33,535) (6,884)

Impairment of Financial Assets 3 (310,196) (357,177)

Insurances (49,065) (46,759)

Finance Costs (102,597) -

Inventory Write-Down 3 (377,250) -

Legal and Professional Fees (744,349) (182,909)

Listing and Registry Fees (84,125) (146,881)

Marketing Expenses (857,322) (363,829)

Operating Costs – Siberian Production Facility (1,152,209) (672,825)

Packaging and Distribution (253,325) (107,718)

Impairment of Receivables 3 (1,326,314) -

Rental and Storage (426,760) (269,387)

Research and Development Costs 3 (556,380) (853,424)

Loss before income tax (9,316,006) (4,819,573)

Income tax benefi t 4 212,143 271,566

Loss for the year (9,103,863) (4,548,007)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2011

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in 
conjunction with the following page and the accompanying notes.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated

Note 2011
$

2010
$

Other comprehensive income

Decrease in fair value of available-for-sale fi nancial assets - (64,679)

Income tax on other comprehensive income - 20,747

Foreign currency transaction differences 740,357 61,132

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 740,357 17,200

Total comprehensive income for the year (8,363,506) (4,530,807)

Profi t is attributable to:

Owners of Solagran Limited (9,103,863) (4,263,511)

Non-controlling interests - (284,496)

(9,103,863) (4,548,007)

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:

Owners of Solagran Limited (8,363,506) (4,246,311)

Non-controlling interests  - (284,496)

(8,363,506) (4,530,807)

Cents Cents

Loss per share from loss from continuing operations

Basic loss per share 5 (2.84) (1.58)

Diluted loss per share 5 (2.84) (1.58)

Loss per share from loss for the year

Basic loss per share 5 (2.84) (1.58)

Diluted loss per share 5 (2.84) (1.58)

Note: Expense categories were reviewed during the 2011 fi nancial year. Comparative amounts for the 2010 fi nancial year 
have been re-classifi ed. The re-classifi cation had no effect on the loss reported for 2010.

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in 
conjunction with the previous page and the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated

Note 2011
$

2010
$

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and a cash equivalents 6 2,499,880 582,509

Trade and other receivables 7 1,384,866 2,070,517

Inventories 8 7,532,792 4,695,499

Total current assets 11,417,538 7,348,525

Non-current assets

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 9 78,712 712,908

Property, plant and equipment 10 7,256,164 6,457,995

Deferred tax assets 15 453,757 -

Intangible assets 11 8,840,164 8,818,224

Total non-current assets 16,628,797 15,989,127

Total assets 28,046,335 23,337,652

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 2,238,224 692,675

Interest-bearing liabilities 13 4,134,019 - 

Other borrowings 14 3,128,064 1,550,063

Total current liabilities 9,500,307 2,242,738

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 15 - 88,085

Other non-current liabilities 16 - 145,764

Total non-current liabilities - 233,849

Total liabilities 9,500,307 2,476,587

Net Assets 18,546,028 20,861,065

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in 
conjunction with the following page and the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2011
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated

Note 2011
$

2010
$

EQUITY

Contributed Equity 17 79,393,130 72,884,661

Other reserves 18 2,904,012 3,041,115

Retained earnings (63,751,114) (54,647,251)

Capital and reserves attributable to owners of Solagran Limited 18,546,028 21,278,525

Non-controlling interests - (417,460)

Total equity 18,546,028 20,861,065

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in 
conjunction with the previous page and the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated

Note 2011
$

2010
$

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 535,294 1,456,283

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (9,983,125) (8,393,144)

Interest received 37,944 49,152

Net cash outfl ow from operating activities 20 (9,409,887) (6,887,709)

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,291,377) (1,450,030)

Purchase of intangible assets 11 (21,940) (178,400)

Disposal of Available For Sale Financial Asset 324,000

Net cash outfl ow from investing activities (989,317) (1,628,430)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 6,511,095 7,914,919

Loan to other entities - (668,375)

Proceeds from borrowings 5,712,020 1,550,064

Repayment of borrowings - (190,000)

Net cash infl ow from fi nancing activities 12,223,115 8,606,608

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,823,911 90,469

Net foreign exchange differences 93,460 (27,997)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 582,509 520,037

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 6 2,499,880 582,509

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be 
read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2011
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTSSTATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2011
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The above Statement of  Changes in Equity should 
be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE 1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Solagran Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the 
Australian Securities Exchange. 

The fi nancial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 30 September 2011.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the fi nancial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. These fi nancial statements are for the 
consolidated entity consisting of Solagran Limited and its subsidiaries.  

a) Basis of preparation

The fi nancial statements are general purpose fi nancial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards, other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and Corporations Act 2001.

Compliance with IFRS

The fi nancial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

Historical cost convention

These fi nancial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modifi ed by the revaluation of 
available for sale fi nancial assets.

Critical accounting estimates and signifi cant judgements 

The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
defi nition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities if they were to signifi cantly change within the 
next fi nancial year are discussed below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a) Basis of preparation (continued)

i. Impairment testing of indefi nite life intangible assets and goodwill

The Group tests annually whether intangible assets with an indefi nite useful life have suffered any impairment, in 
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1(e). The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have 
been determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions. Details of 
the assumptions used can be found in Note 11.

The recoverability of the amount of goodwill and indefi nite life of intangible assets is based upon Solagran Limited 
and controlled entities being able to continue as a going concern, by the way of raising further capital in order 
to meet expenditure commitments to be able to successfully exploit the company’s product and technologies in 
excess of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangibles.

The recoverable amount of investments held by the parent entities is based on the net asset value in conjunction 
with terminal value calculations as set out in Note 11.

ii. Shared-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity settled share based payments at fair value at the grant date using the 
Black-Scholes model taking into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the 
share price at grant date, the expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and risk free 
interest rate for the term of the option.

iii. Non capitalisation of clinical trial research and development costs 

Due to the high element of risk and uncertainty associated with the development of pharmaceutical products the 
Group elects to expense all ongoing patent costs and all research and developments costs. This is consistent with 
other companies in the Biotech sector in the same stage of development of Solagran Limited.

  IV. Valuation of Inventories

Solagran values inventories at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Following an assessment of inventory 
carrying values at 30 June 2011, Solagran determined that $377,250 should be written off as obsolete in the 
accounts.

  V. Recoverability of loan to Russian distributor

Solagran has advanced funds to its distributor in Russia to assist with developing the market for Ropren and 
other Solagran products. The recoverability of the loan is contingent upon a suffi cient level of sales being 
achieved in the future. Though Solagran’s management is confi dent that the funds will be recovered in the future, 
it has decided to adopt a conservative approach and provide for the total debt owing ($1,326,314) in the 2011 
accounts.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

b) Going Concern

   For the year ended 30 June 2011, the Company incurred an operating loss of $8,363,506 (2010 loss: $4,530,807) as 
it continued to further invest in drug development and corporate initiatives. As at year end, the Company’s net assets 
stood at $18,546,028 (2010: $20,861,065) with available cash of $2,499,880 (2010: $582,509). For the year ended 
30 June 2011, the consolidated group had net cash outfl ows from operating activities totalling $9,409,887 (2010: 
$6,887,709).

The fi nancial report has been prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption that suffi cient funding will be 
available through loans from existing shareholders and/or further capital placements. The company is also in advanced 
negotiations with a Russian government supported joint venture partner, which if successful will result in a signifi cant 
improvement in revenue over the next three years.

The Company has also made a submission to the Ministry of Health in Russia for its registered pharmaceutical 
Ropren to be included on the list of “Life Necessary Medicines”. Inclusion on the list would be expected to 
signifi cantly enhance sales revenue generated from the product. A decision is expected in November this year. 

The directors have a history of successfully raising capital and are confi dent one of the above funding sources will 
result in an injection of cash. Accordingly, the Directors believe that the value of the Company’s existing net assets 
will generate suffi cient funds for the Company to continue to operate in its normal manner.

In common with other biotechnology and drug development companies, the Company operations are subject to 
considerable risks and suffi cient uncertainty due primarily to the nature of the development and commercialisation 
undertaken. To allow the Company to execute its near term and longer term plans, it will be necessary to raise 
additional capital or secure funding through commercial transactions in the future. Accordingly, there remains 
uncertainty concerning the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a further 12 months as defi ned in 
current accounting standards.

Based on the reduced cash fl ow requirements of the Company, the Directors consider that the Company is likely to 
have suffi cient available funds to support operations and will manage the availability of resources over the immediate 
term.

Should the company and consolidated entity be unsuccessful in its funding activities noted above, signifi cant 
uncertainty as to whether the consolidated entity will be able to continue as a going concern would exist and 
therefore, whether it will be able to realise its assets, specifi cally property plant and equipment and inventory 
balances, and settle its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

c) Principles of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries

The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Solagran Limited 
(“company” or “parent entity”) as at 30 June 2011 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
Solagran Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these fi nancial statements as the Group or 
consolidated entity.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

c) Principles of consolidation (continued)

i. Subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to 
govern the fi nancial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the 
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of 
comprehensive income and statement of fi nancial position respectively.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the fi nancial information of Solagran Limited.  

ii. Changes in ownership interests

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to refl ect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount of the adjustments to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or 
received is recognised in a separate reserve with equity attributable to owners of Solagran Limited.

When the group ceases to have control, joint control or signifi cant infl uence, any retained interest in the entity 
is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profi t or loss.  The fair value is 
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
jointly controlled entity or fi nancial asset.  In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities.  This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to 
profi t or loss.

If the ownership interest in a jointly-controlled entity or an associate is reduced but joint control or signifi cant 
infl uence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss where appropriate.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

d) Income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated fi nancial statements. However, the 
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or 
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted 
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right of offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly 
in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation

Solagran Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation 
legislation. The head entity, Solagran Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax 
consolidated group continues to be a stand- alone taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Solagran Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities 
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from 
controlled entities in the tax consolidation group.  

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as 
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group. 

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement 
are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

e) Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business 
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values 
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration 
transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-
existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifi able assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifi able assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquire and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of 
the net identifi able assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifi able assets of the subsidiary acquired and the 
measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profi t or loss as a bargain 
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted 
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, 
being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent fi nancier under comparable 
terms and conditions.

f) Impairment of assets

At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is any indication that individual assets are impaired.  
Where impairment indicators exist, the recoverable amount is determined and an impairment loss is recognised 
profi t or loss.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefi nite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifi able cash infl ows which are largely independent of the cash infl ows from 
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.  
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

g) Property, Plant & equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profi t or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued 
amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and equipment:       5 years

Motor Vehicles     5 years

Land       Not depreciated

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. An asset’s 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in 
profi t or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the amounts included in other reserves in 
respect of those assets to retained earnings.

h) Intangible assets

i. Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net 
identifi able assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries 
is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of 
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash-
generating units represents the Group’s investment in each country of operation by each primary reporting 
segment. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

ii. Patents and trademarks 

Patents and trademarks have an indefi nite useful life and are carried at cost less any impairment losses. The 
carrying value of patents and trademarks is assessed using methods such as discounted future cashfl ow of the 
estimated revenue expected to be generated from the assets. Patents and trademarks are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

i) Cash and cash equivalents

For cash fl ow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with fi nancial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value, 
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of fi nancial 
position.

j) Employee benefi ts

i. Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefi ts, annual leave and accumulating sick leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.

ii. Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefi ts and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that 
match, and closely as possible, the estimated future cash outfl ows.

iii. Share-based payments

Under AASB 2 Share Based Payments, the Group must recognise the fair value of options granted to directors, 
employees and consultants as remuneration as an expense on a pro-rata basis over the vesting period in profi t or 
loss with a corresponding adjustment to equity.  

The Group provides benefi ts to employees (including directors) of the group in the form of share based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled 
transactions”).  The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees (including directors) is measured by 
reference to fair value at the date they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black Scholes model.

k) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the fi nancial year 
and which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.



35

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

l) Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 
days.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are 
written off. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that 
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Signifi cant 
fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or fi nancial reorganisation, and 
default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash fl ows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amount of the provision is recognised in profi t and loss in other expenses.

m) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are 
net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

i. Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sales is recognised when signifi cant risk and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer 
and can be reliably measured. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer when goods have been 
delivered to the customer.

ii.  Interest Income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. The effective interest method uses 
the effective interest rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the 
fi nancial asset. 

iii. Licensing fees

Licensing fees are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the agreement.   Shares 
received in other corporations as part of a licensing agreement are recognised as revenue at the fair value of 
shares received.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

n) Earnings per share

i. Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profi t attributable to equity holders of the company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the fi nancial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

ii. Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the fi gures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest and other fi nancing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in 
relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

o) Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and fi nished goods

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and fi nished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fi xed overhead 
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual 
items of inventory on basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting 
rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

p) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identifi ed as the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors review internal management reports on a monthly basis that is consistent with the 
information provided in the statement of comprehensive income, statement of fi nancial position and statement of 
cash fl ows. As a result no reconciliation is required, because the information as presented is used by the Board to 
make strategic decisions.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

q) Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. 

Contributing shares are partly paid with calls of capital being made at the discretion of the company. Where calls are 
not paid these shares will be forfeited by the holder.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the 
acquisition of a business are included as part of the purchase consideration.

r) Dividends

A provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the 
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the fi nancial year but not distributed at the reporting date.

s) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance 
sheet.

Cash fl ows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash fl ows arising from investing or fi nancing 
activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash fl ow.

t) Investments and other fi nancial assets

The group classifi es its fi nancial assets in the following categories; fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or 
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale fi nancial assets.  The classifi cation 
depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the classifi cation of its 
investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classifi ed as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation 
at the end of each reporting period.

All investments and other fi nancial assets are initially stated at cost, being the fair value of consideration given plus 
acquisition costs.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after 
the balance sheet date, which are classifi ed as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in 
the balance sheet.

Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other fi nancial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classifi ed in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets 
unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the end of 
the reporting period. Investments are designated as available-for-sale if they do not have fi xed maturities and fi xed or 
determinable payments and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term.

Impairment

The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial asset 
or group of fi nancial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classifi ed as available-for-sale, a signifi cant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities 
are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale fi nancial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that fi nancial asset 
previously recognised in profi t or loss - is reclassifi ed from equity and recognised in profi t or loss as a reclassifi cation 
adjustment. Impairment losses recognised in profi t or loss on equity instruments classifi ed as available-for-sale are not 
reversed through profi t or loss.

If there is evidence of impairment for any of the group’s fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
fl ows, excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred. The cash fl ows are discounted at the fi nancial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in profi t or loss.

u) Fair value estimation

The fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes.

The fair value of fi nancial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and 
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price 
used for fi nancial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of fi nancial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term 
debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash fl ows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining fi nancial instruments.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of fi nancial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash fl ows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for 
similar fi nancial instruments.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
v) Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transactions costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount is recognised in profi t or loss over the period of the loans and borrowings using the effective 
interest method.

Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

w) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is 
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

x) Foreign currency

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).  The consolidated fi nancial 
statements are presented in AUD, which is Solagran Limited’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at reporting date are translated to Australian 
dollars at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  

Financial statements of foreign operations 

The functional currency of the Russian subsidiaries is the Russian Rouble. The assets and liabilities of foreign 
operations are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.  The revenues 
and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at rates approximating to the foreign rates of 
exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised 
in the foreign currency translation reserve.
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NOTE  1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

y) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

The Group has chosen not to early-adopt any accounting standards that have been issued, but are not yet effective.

Set out below is a summary of issued accounting standards, relevant to the Consolidated Entity, which are not yet 
effective and a description of their expected effect on the Group’s fi nancial statements(if any).

AASB 2010-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Financial Instruments: Disclosures [AASB 7] 
(effective 1 January 2011)

In June 2010 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which deletes various 
disclosures relating to credit risk, renegotiated loans and receivables and the fair value of collateral held. There will 
be no impact on initial adoption to amounts recognised in the fi nancial statement as the amendments result in fewer 
disclosures only.

AASB 2010-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Financial Statements [AASB 101] 
(effective 1 January 2011)
In June 2010 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, which allows that a 
detailed reconciliation of each item of other comprehensive income may be included in the statement of changes in 
equity or in the notes to the fi nancial statements. There will be no impact on initial adoption of this amendment as 
a detailed reconciliation of each item of other comprehensive income has always been included in the statement of 
changes in equity.

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets 
(effective 1 July 2011)

In November 2010 the AASB issued additional disclosures required for entities that transfer fi nancial assets, including 
information about the nature of fi nancial assets involved and the risks associated with them. As this is a disclosure 
standard only, there will be no impact on amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

AASB 9 - Financial Instruments (Effective 1 January 2013)

This standard was issued in December 2009 and amends the requirements for classifi cation and measurement 
of fi nancial assets. Due to the relatively recent release of these amendments and the fact that the adoption is 
only mandatory for the 30 June 2014 year end, the entity has not yet made an assessment of the impact of these 
amendments.

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures (effective 1 July 2011)

In May 2011 the AASB issued this standard, which moves additional Australian specifi c disclosure requirements for 
for-profi t entities from various Australian Accounting Standards into this Standard as a result of the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project. This standard removes the requirement to disclose each class of capital commitment and 
expenditure commitment contracted for at the end of the reporting period (other than commitments for the supply 
of inventories). There will be no impact on disclosures when this Standard is adopted for the fi rst time because the 
group has no capital or other expenditure commitments. The group will still be required to disclose fi nance and 
operating lease commitments under AASB 117 Leases.
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NOTE  2  REVENUE & OTHER INCOME

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

From continuing operations

Sale of goods 1,019,383 1,221,103

Interest 37,953 49,152

 1,057,336  1,270,255

Other Income

Other Income 156,565 200,799

License Fees - 585,000

 156,565  785,799

Other income in 2010 consisted of the recovery of legal fees during the year.

Licensing fees in 2010 represent the further allotment of 22,500,000 of shares to Solagran upon BioProspect Limited 
issuing a notice to commercialise under the Development Agreement entered into between the two companies in August 
2007. All shares issued under the Development Agreement with BioProspect Limited were sold in November 2010.
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NOTE  3  EXPENSES

Consolidated
2011

$

2010
$

Loss before income tax includes the following specifi c expenses:

Depreciation expense 493,207 493,553

Impairment

Available for Sale – Financial assets 310,196 357,177

Write down of inventories to net realisable value 377,250

-
Impairment of receivables 1,326,314 -

Employee benefi ts 1,694,617 940,094

Rental Expenses – Operating Leases 95,541 74,178

Research and development 556,380 853,424

Defi ned Contribution Superannuation 84,657 80,710

Following a comprehensive review of Trade and Other Receivables, Solagran’s Board determined it was prudent to take a 
conservative approach on the net balance owing from its distributor in Russia. 

In order to develop the market for Solagran’s products in Russia, the company has provided fi nancial support to the 
distributor. The distributor is obliged to repay the funds advanced from the proceeds of future sales of Ropren and other 
SibEX trademark products in Russia. Though the Board has every confi dence the distributor will generate sales of a 
suffi cient level to enable the advances to be repaid, it has decided to provide for the net balance owing of $1,326,314 at 
30 June 2011.
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NOTE  4  INCOME TAX

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

(a) Income tax benefi t

Current tax (212,143) (271,566)

Deferred tax - -

(212,143) (271,566)

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable:

Loss before income tax (9,103,863) (4,548,007)

Prima facie income tax at 30% (2,731,159) (1,364,402)

Tax effect of amount not deductible in calculating taxable income:

Entertainment 768 516

Impairment of available for sale fi nancial assets 93,059 107,153

Other timing differences 13,541 (6,374)

Other permanent differences (111,786) (121,105)

(2,735,577) (1,384,212)

Benefi t of deferred tax assets not brought to account 2,523,434 1,112,646

Income tax benefi t (212,143) (271,566)

(c) Deferred Tax Assets

Russian subsidiaries 453,757 -

(d) Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising on timing

Tax losses – Australia 5,285,347 4,231,457

Other temporary differences 13,541 33,551

5,298,888 4,265,008

Offset of deferred tax liabilities - -

Net deferred tax assets not brought to account 5,298,888 4,265,008

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  5  LOSS PER SHARE

Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss per share:

Consolidated

2011
Cents

2010
cents

Loss attributable to owners of Solagran Limited used to calculate basic and 
diluted loss per share:

Loss from continuing operations (9,103,863) (4,548,007)

Loss from for the year (9,103,863) (4,548,007)

Reconciliation of weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year used in calculating loss per share:

2011
Number

2010
number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic and diluted loss per share

320,270,544 288,056,425

The following securities have been classifi ed as potential ordinary shares and are 
not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share because they are anti-
dilutive:

2011
Number

2010
number

Options outstanding at year end 3,400,000 3,400,000

Weighted average number of potential ordinary shares from options 3,400,000 4,700,000

NOTE  6  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Cash at bank and in hand 2,473,829 557,438 

Deposits at call 26,051 25,071

 2,499,880  582,509

Deposits at call bear fl oating interest rates between 5 and 6% (2010: 5 and 6%). These deposits have an average maturity of 
60 days.
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NOTE  7  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Trade receivables 423,218 534,227

Other Receivables 2,287,962 1,536,290

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (1,326,314) -

Total Other Receivables  961,648  1,536,290

Total Trade and Other Receivables  1,384,866  2,070,517

Age analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting period

Consolidated 2011 2010

Total
$

Amount 
Impaired

$

Amount 
not 

impaired
$

Total
$

Amount 
Impaired

$

Amount 
not 

impaired
$

Not past due 298,833 - 298,833 309,227 - 309,227

Past due  124,385 - 124,385 225,000 - 225,000

Total 423,218 - 423,218 534,227 - 534,227

Payment terms on receivables past due but not considered impaired have not been re-negotiated. Solagran has assessed the 
trade receivables balance and is reasonably satisfi ed that payment will be received in full and have therefore determined that 
none of the amounts owing are impaired.

None of the trade receivables have a formal credit rating as determined by a ratings agency.

Amounts classifi ed in other receivables include the following:

- Amounts advanced to our distributor in Russia*

- GST refunds due from the Australian Taxation Offi ce

- VAT refunds due from the Department of Taxation in Russia

- Prepayments for goods and services to be delivered in the 2011/12 fi nancial year

*A provision has been raised for the total amount advanced to our distributor in Russia. This is discussed in Note 3 of the 
accounts.

For risk analysis of these receivables, refer to note 22.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  8  INVENTORIES

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Raw materials 728,120 1,135,835

Work in progress 14,846 904

Finished goods – at cost 6,789,826 3,558,760

1. 7,532,792 2. 4,695,499

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense amounted to $1,020,044 (2010: $1,457,093). Write-down of inventories 
to net realisable value during the year amounted to $377,250 (2010: $nil).

NOTE  9  AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON-CURRENT)

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Listed securities

Equity securities 78,712 712,908

 78,712  712,908

At 30 June 2011 Solagran Limited holds 9,839,041 ordinary shares in BioProspect Limited. The shares have been valued at 
the closing price for 30 June 2011 of $0.008 per share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  9  AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON-CURRENT) (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of BioProspect Holding Consolidated
2011

$

2010
$

Opening balance 712,908 549,764

Allotment of 22,500,000 shares in Feb 2010 - 585,000

Clear asset revaluation reserve - (64,679)

Disposal of 45,000,000 shares following settlement with Bioprospect Ltd (324,000) -

Impairment of investment taken to Profi t and Loss (310,196) (357,177)

Closing Balance  78,712  712,908

NOTE  10  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Land and Building at cost 147,500 147,500

Leasehold Improvements at cost 25,961 17,700

Less Accumulated Amortisation (13,521) -

159,940 165,200

Motor Vehicle at cost 249,919 213,637

Less Accumulated Depreciation (128,500) (53,045)

121,419 160,592

Plant and Equipment at cost 8,745,179 7,484,822

Less Accumulated Depreciation (1,770,374) (1,352,619)

6,974,805 6,132,203

Total Property, Plant & Equipment  7,256,164  6,457,995
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  10  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Reconciliations

Land, Buildings and Leasehold Improvements

2011
$

2010
$

Carrying amount at the beginning of the fi nancial year 165,200 147,500

Additions 8,261 17,700

Depreciation Expense (13,521) -

Carrying amount at the end of the fi nancial year  159,940  165,200

Motor Vehicles

2011
$

2010
$

Carrying amount at the beginning of the fi nancial year 160,592 51,000

Additions 36,282 152,637

Depreciation Expense (75,455) (43,045)

Carrying amount at the end of the fi nancial year  121,419  160,592

Plant and Equipment

 2011
 $

 2010
 $

Carrying amount at the beginning of the fi nancial year  6,132,203  5,155,518

Additions  1,260,354  1,416,896

Depreciation Expense  (417,752)  (440,211)

Carrying amount at the end of the fi nancial year  6,974,805  6,132,203
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NOTE  11  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Goodwill

At cost 3,062,694 3,062,694

Patents and trademarks

At cost 7,777,470 7,755,530

Accumulated amortisation (and impairment) (2,000,000) (2,000,000)

5,777,470 5,755,530

Total intangible assets  8,840,164  8,818,224

Reconciliations

Goodwill Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Carrying amount at beginning of the fi nancial year 3,062,694 3,062,694

Acquisition through business combinations - -

Carrying amount at end of the fi nancial year  3,062,694  3,062,694

Patents and Trademarks Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Carrying amount at beginning of the fi nancial year 5,755,530 5,577,130

Acquisitions 21,940 178,400

Carrying amount at end of the fi nancial year  5,777,470  5,755,530
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  11  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a) Key assumptions for value-in-use calculations

The directors have assessed that substantially all of the property, plant & equipment (Note 10) and the intangible 
assets (Note 11) belong to the same Cash Generating Unit (CGU).  The value-in-use calculations have therefore been 
assessed at this level.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment been assessed for impairment during 
the period based on the following assumptions:

2012 2013

Sales $5.2mil $25.8mil

A discount rate of 18% has been applied to the cashfl ows, which is based on the risk profi ile of the Group.

Based on past experience and forecast developments, gross margins are expected to be between 55% and 75%.

The level of forecast sales in particular represents a signifi cant estimate of the directors and should this sales level not 
be achieved, a risk exists that the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets will not 
be realised.  Refer to Note 1(a)(i) and Note 1(b) for further details.

NOTE  12  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Trade payables 1,724,196 422,246

Other payables 514,028 270,429

Total  2,238,224  692,675

NOTE  13  INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

CURRENT

Unsecured

Bank Loan Facility - Russia 1,004,602 -

Loan advance – Convertible Note Facility 3,129,417 -

Total current interest-bearing liabilities  4,134,019  -

Bank overdraft facility

At 30 June 2011, a line of credit facility had been provided by the Promregionbank LLC in Tomsk Siberia to SibEX LLC. As at 
30 June 2011, a further USD $500,000 was available to be drawn down under this facility. The credit facility attracts a variable 
interest rate of 16% per annum and must be repaid or renegotiated by 31 January 2012.
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NOTE  13  INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (Continued)

Loan Advance – Convertible Note Facility

On 30 May 2011, Solagran advised via an announcement to the market that it had raised $3.1 million via way of loans 
advanced to the company which subject to shareholder approval may be converted into ordinary shares of Solagran at 
$0.15 per share. At the date of this report Solagran has not called a meeting of shareholders to approve the conversion and 
therefore the instruments are classifi ed as interest bearing liabilities. The $29,417 represents accrued interest on the loans 
to 30 June 2011. Interest has been accrued on the loans at an interest rate of 15% per annum. Interest is only payable should 
the loans not be converted into ordinary shares of Solagran Limited. If the loans are not converted to ordinary shares of 
Solagran Limited, the principal and interest is due for repayment by June 2012. 

NOTE  14  OTHER CURRENT BORROWINGS

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

CURRENT

Unsecured Loan – Solamind Pty Ltd 3,128,064 1,550,063

Total  3,128,064  1,550,063

During the prior year Solagran obtained a loan for working capital purposes from Solamind Pty Ltd, an entity associated 
with the Executive Chairman Dr Vagif Soultanov. The loan is interest free and repayable upon demand.

As at 30 June 2011, the loan is fully drawn down (Unused facilities at 30 June 2010 were $1,949,937).

NOTE  15  DEFERRED TAX ASSETS /(LIABILITIES) 

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) 453,757 (88,085

453,757 (88,085)

NOTE  16  OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Deferred revenue - 145,764

- 145,764
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NOTE  17  CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Parent Parent

2011
Shares

2011
$

2010
Shares

2010
$

Share capital

Ordinary shares – no par value

Fully paid 343,510,161 79,393,130 297,780,927 72,884,661

Totals 343,510,161 79,393,130 297,780,927 72,884,661

Movements in ordinary share capital     

Date Details Number of 
shares

Issue price $

1 July 2009 Balance 246,026,588 - 63,715,556

29/07/2009 Issued to Salim Group Nominee 36,916,918 0.15 5,537,538

17/08/2009 Options Exercise 10,000 0.05 500

30/11/2009 Conversion of contributing shares SLACA 12,227,421 0.20 2,445,484

21/12/2009 Directors Options exercised 2,000,000 0.50 1,000,000

3/05/2010 Directors Options exercised 600,000 0.50 300,000

30/06/2010 Calls in Arrears - - 162,512

Less: transaction costs arising on shares issued - - (276,929)

30 June 2010 Balance 297,780,927 72,884,661

5/1/2011 Share Placement 44,218,572 0.15 6,631,336

5/1/2011 Exercise of Unlisted Options 10,662 0.20 2,132

13/4/2011 Issued to SibEX LLC Minority Shareholders for 
acquisition of the remaining 15%

1,500,000 0.14 210,000

Less: transaction costs arising on shares issued (334,999)

30 June 2011 Balance 343,510,161 79,393,130
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NOTE  17  CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shareholders are entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting in 
person or by proxy is entitles to one vote on a show of hands or by poll.

Options outstanding

At 30 June 2011 there were 3,400,000 ordinary share options outstanding (2010: 3,400,000).

Capital Risk Management

In managing its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent return 
for its owners through a combination of capital growth and distributions and through the payment of annual preference 
dividends to its preference shareholders. In order to achieve this objective, the Group seeks to maintain a gearing ratio 
that balances risks and returns at an acceptable level and also to maintain a suffi cient funding base to enable the Group to 
meet its working capital and strategic investment needs. In making decisions to adjust its capital structure to achieve these 
aims, either through altering its dividend policy, new share issues, or the reduction of debt, the Group considered not only 
its short-term position but also its long-term operational and strategic objectives.

It is the Group’s policy to maintain its gearing ratio below 60% (2010:5-20%). The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of the 
reporting period is shown below:

Gearing ratios Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Net debt 9,500,307 2,476,587

Total equity 18,546,028 20,861,093

Total capital 28,046,335 23,337,680

Gearing Ratio 51.2% 11.9%

The increase in gearing has been brought about by the Board’s decision to take on additional debt to fi nance the working 
capital requirements of the Company. The Company intends to reduce these gearing levels by seeking approval from 
shareholders at the next meeting to convert the loan advances of $3,100,000 into ordinary shares. There have been no 
other signifi cant changes to the Group’s capital management objectives, policies and processes in the year nor has there 
been any other change in what the Group considers to be its capital.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  18  RESERVES

Summary Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Share Based Payments Reserve 3,099,219 3,099,219

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 682,253 (58,103)

Acquisition of NCI Reserve (877,460) -

Total 2,904,012 3,041,116

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of movements in reserves are disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of shares issued to Solalife and options issued to the 
Executive Chairman Dr Vagif Soultanov approved by shareholders at the 2008 Annual General Meeting.  

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
subsidiaries.  Amounts are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss when the investment is disposed of.

Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interest (NCI) reserve

The acquisition of non-controlling interest reserve is used to record differences which may arise as a result of increases 
or decreases in non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control.

The balance at reporting date relates to the acquisition of the remaining 15% of Sibex LLC in July 2010:

2011
$

Consideration paid by Solagran Limited 460,000

Net liabilities attributable to non-controlling interests 417,460

Total 877,460

Available-for-sale (AFS) reserve

The AFS reserve comprises changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments which are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and are recognised in profi t or loss when the investments are sold or impaired.

The AFS reserve was reduced to $nil at 30 June 2010.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE 19 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In June 2011, Solagran Son LLC fi nalised the acquisition of 81% of the issued capital of Biotech LLC, which is a company 
incorporated in Russia.  Biotech LLC acquired the property, plant and equipment assets of a production facility in Vyshney 
Volochok in Russia (formerly known as Resource F), which manufactures Conifer Green Needle Complex (CGNC), an 
ingredient used in Solagran’s products.

The acquisition of Biotech was part of a strategy to eliminate dependence on this supplier, mitigate risks of delays in 
supply and to reduce risks of theft of intellectual property.

A business combination occurred as a result of the purchase of the CGNC production facility.  Details of the net assets 
acquired and purchase consideration are set out below.

Property, plant & equipment of $624,000 were acquired as part of the business combination and have been included 
within Solagran’s consolidated fi nancial statements at 30 June 2011.  The only other assets and liabilities acquired are 
immaterial to the group and have not been included in this note.

The directors have determined that the fair value of the net assets acquired was equivalent to their carrying amount and 
the purchase consideration and accordingly no goodwill has arisen on the acquisition.

The acquisition was satisfi ed by way of a payment of $52,700 to existing shareholders and Solagran Son fi nancing an 
upgrade to the production facility of $571,300 through an intercompany loan facility. 

Acquisition costs relating to the transaction have been included in profi t and loss in the 2011 fi nancial year.

NOTE  20  CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash fl ow from 
operating activities

Loss for the year (9,103,863) (4,548,007)

Depreciation and amortisation 493,207 493,553

Impairment of other receivables 1,326,314 -

Impairment of AFS assets 310,195 357,177

Change in assets and liabilities

- increase in receivables (640,663) (589,514)

- increase in inventories (2,837,294) (1,976,391)

- increase / (decrease) in trade creditors 943,521 (697,186)

- impact of foreign exchange differences upon payment of operating 
expenses

98,696 72,659

Net cash fl ow from operating activities (9,409,887) (6,887,709)
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NOTE  21  SEGMENT INFORMATION
Description of segments

Operating segments have been determined on the basis of reports reviewed by the Board of Directors.  The Board 
of Directors is considered to be the chief operating decision maker of the group.  The Board considers the business 
from both a product and geographic perspective and assesses performance and allocates resources on this basis.  The 
reportable segments are as follows:

Bioeffective Production and Sales Australia

Bioeffective Production and Sales in Australia represents the sale of all fi nished goods produced by our contract 
manufacturers using bioeffective materials derived from Russia.  Currently Bioeffective A is sold in encapsulated form, and 
Bioeffective I is sold in drink concentrate form under the trade name of Siberian Red.

Bioeffective Production and Sales Russia

The Russian division produces Bioeffective R forming the basis of the pharmaceutical product available for sale in Russia, 
Ropren.  The Russian division also sells a variety of water and oil-based fractions under the SibEX trademark.

Information provided to the Board of Directors

Segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the year ended 30 June 2011 is as follows:

2011 Australia

$

Russia

$

Total

$

Segment Revenue

Total segment revenue 432,997 586,386 1,019,383

Inter-segment revenue - - -

Segment revenue from external customers 432,997 586,386 1,019,383

EBITDA (3,175,072) (3,569,322) (6,744,394)

Interest revenue 37,953 - 37,953

Depreciation and amortisation (74,966) (418,241) (493,207)

Income tax benefi t - 212,143 212,143

2011 Australia

$

Russia

$

Total

$

Segment Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets 9,712,326 18,334,009 28,046,335

Segment liabilities 6,703,641 2,796,666 9,500,307
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NOTE  21  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

Segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the year ended 30 June 2010 is as follows:

2010 Australia

$

Russia

$

Total

$

Segment Revenue

Total segment revenue 393,865 827,238 1,221,103

Inter-segment revenue - - -

Segment revenue from external customers 393,865 827,238 1,221,103

EBITDA (2,234,921) (1,783,074) (4,017,995)

Interest revenue 49,152 - 49,152

Depreciation and amortisation (22,933) (470,620) (493,553)

2010 Australia

$

Russia

$

Total

$

Segment Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets 10,794,823 12,542,829 23,337,652

Segment liabilities 1,792,925 683,662 2,476,587

The Board of Directors monitors segment performance based on EBITDA.  This measure excludes non-recurring 
expenditure such as restructuring costs, impairments and share-based payments as well as interest revenue and interest 
expense and other items which are considered part of the corporate treasury function. 

2011
$

2010
$

Reconciliation of EBITDA to loss before income tax:
Total segment EBITDA (6,744,394) (4,017,995)
Interest revenue 37,952 49,152

Finance costs (102,597) -

Depreciation and amortisation (493,207) (493,553)

Impairment of receivables (1,326,314) -

Inventory write-down (377,250) -

Impairment of AFS investments (310,196) (357,177)

Loss before income tax (9,316,006) (4,819,573)
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NOTE  22  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of 
fi nancial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the fi nancial performance of the Group. The Group 
uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis 
in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and ageing analysis for credit risk.

The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specifi c areas, such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

A. Market Risk

i. Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the Russian Rouble.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity 
analysis and cash fl ow forecasting.

Based on the fi nancial instruments held at reporting date, the Group has no material exposure to foreign 
exchange risk.

Risk arising from the group’s net investments in foreign operations is not included in this note as it does not 
pertain to fi nancial instruments.

ii. Cash fl ow interest rate risk

The Group’s only interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held and the bank loan facility in 
Russia. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk at the reporting date is as follows:

Consolidated
       Instruments with cash fl ow risk: 2011

$
2010

$

Cash and cash equivalents 2,499,880 582,509

Variable borrowings (1,004,602) -

Net exposure to interest rate risk  1,495,278  582,509

Sensitivity of profi t or loss to movements in market interest rates for instruments with cash fl ow risk: 

- Market interest rates changed by ± 100 basis points           ± 14,953            ± 5,825                              __________         ________

The convertible note facility disclosed in Note 13 is at a fi xed interest rate and therefore does not expose the 
Group to interest rate risk.
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NOTE  22  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
A. Market Risk (continued)

c. Price risk

 The group and the parent entity are exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from an investment held 
by the group and classifi ed in the balance sheet as available-for-sale. Neither the group nor the parent entity are 
exposed to commodity price risk.

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in the market price of this investment on the 
group’s post-tax profi t for the year and on equity. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity market 
value had increased by 1 cent/decreased by 0.5 cent (2010 - increased by 1 cent/decreased by 0.5 cent) with all 
other variables held constant.

Listed Securities Price Sensitivity

Impact on post-tax 
profi t

Impact on other 
components of equity

2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Listed Securities - Increase by 1c -             -   98,390     548,390 

Listed Securities - Decrease by 0.5c (49,195) (274,195) -             -   

B. Credit risk exposure

Credit risk is the risk of fi nancial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a fi nancial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from receivables from customers and cash and cash 
equivalents.  For the Company and Group it arises from trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 
The parent has credit risk in the intercompany receivables. The credit risk on fi nancial assets of the consolidated 
entity, which have been recognised in the statement of fi nancial position, other than investments in shares, is generally 
the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts. 

As at 30 June 2011, the only material exposure to a single debtor was an outstanding balance from a Russian product 
distributor of $1,326,314 (2010: $688,374).  An allowance for doubtful debts has been raised against this debt – see 
Note 3.

The credit quality of fi nancial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external 
credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about default rates.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows:

Consolidated
2011

$
2010

$

Cash and cash equivalents 2,499,880 582,509

Trade receivables 423,218 534,227

Other receivables 961,648 1,536,290

Total  3,884,746  2,653,026
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NOTE  22  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

C. Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its fi nancial obligations as they fall due. Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining suffi cient cash balances and access to equity funding.

The Financial Director monitors the cash position of the Group on a weekly basis. 

At the reporting date the Group had suffi cient cash to meet its requirements via access to short term debt facilities. 
Refer to note 13 for details of the facility.  Refer also to Note 1(b) for details of further funding required.

Maturity of fi nancial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s fi nancial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contracted 
undiscounted cashfl ows.

Less than 6

Months

6-12

months

1-2

years

Total contractual 
cashfl ows

Carrying

Amount

2011

Trade and other Payables 2,238,224 - - 2,238,224 2,238,224

Interest Bearing 
Liabilities

- 4,603,443 - 4,603,443 4,134,029

Other Borrowings  3,128,064  -  - 3,128,064 3,128,064

5,366,288 4,603,443 - 9,969,731 9,500,317

2010

Trade and other Payables 692,675 - - 692,675 692,675

Other Borrowings  1,550,063  -  - 11,550,063 1,550,063

2,242,738 - - 2,242,738 2,242,738

D.   Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or 
for disclosure purposes. The fair value of fi nancial instruments traded in active markets (such as available-for-sale 
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for fi nancial assets 
held by the Group is the current bid price. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are 
based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash 
fl ows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining fi nancial instruments. The carrying value less impairment 
provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term 
nature. The fair value of fi nancial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash fl ows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar fi nancial instruments.



61

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

NOTE  23  COMMITMENTS

Lease commitments Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Non-cancellable operating leases - 

Future minimum lease payments

Payable:

Within one year 96,162 95,541

Later than one year but not later than 5 years 131,688 289,883

 227,850  385,424

The Group leases premises under a non-cancellable operating lease expiring in September 2013.  All leases have annual 
CPI escalation clauses.  They do include commitments for any renewal options on leases.  Lease terms usually run for 5 
years with a 5 year renewal option.  Lease conditions do not impose any restrictions on the ability of Solagran Limited and 
its subsidiaries from borrowing further funds or paying dividends.

NOTE  24  SUBSIDIARIES

The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(b).

Name of entity Country of 
incorporation

Class of shares

Solathera Limited Australia Ordinary

Solagran Netherlands BV Netherlands Ordinary

Sibex LLC Russia Ordinary

Solagift LLC Russia Ordinary

Sologran Son Russia Ordinary

Biotech LLC Russia Ordinary

In July 2010, Solagran announced that it had acquired the remaining 15% of SibEX LLC thereby making it a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Group.

During the year Solagran acquired a controlling interest in Biotech LLC. Biotech LLC operates the CGNC manufacturing 
facility in Vishney Volochek, Russia.
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NOTE  25  PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A. Summary Financial Information

The individual fi nancial statements for the parent entity show aggregate amounts:

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Statement of fi nancial position

Current Assets 2,497,662 497,566

Total Assets 35,697,115 26,660,478

Current Liabilities 6,553,641 58,629

Total Liabilities 6,553,641 1,608,692

Net Assets  29,143,474  25,051,786

Shareholders’ Equity

Issued Capital 79,194,601 72,854,688

Reserves 2,904,412 3,713,661

Retained Earnings (52,955,539) (51,516,563)

 29,143,474  25,051,786

Loss for the year (896,772) (992,841)

Total comprehensive income (896,772) (992,841)

B. Guarantees entered into by the parent entity

The parent entity has not provided any fi nancial guarantees.

C. Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

On 24 August 2010, Solagran was joined as a party to proceedings commenced by Gun Capital Management Pty 
Ltd alleging misrepresentation under the Trade Practices Act. Both parties attended court directed mediation in July 
2011. The matter did not settle at mediation. Upon due consideration by the Board of Solagran it was determined 
that no contingent liability exists in relation to this matter at 30 June 2011.

D. Contractual commitments

As at 30 June 2011, the parent entity had contractual commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-
cancellable operating leases totalling $227,850 (2010: $385,424).
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NOTE  26  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Issue of Shares to Solalife Pty Ltd

Shareholders approved the issue of 28,000,000 shares to Solalife Pty Ltd at the 2008 AGM.  The shares are currently held 
in escrow and will vest in three tranches.  The fi rst tranche of 10,000,000 shares will vest upon the closing price of SLA 
ordinary shares traded on the Australian Securities Exchange equalling or exceeding $0.80 for three consecutive trading 
days.  The second tranche of 10,000,000 shares will vest upon the closing price of SLA ordinary shares traded on the 
Australian Securities Exchange equalling or exceeding $1.20 for 3 consecutive trading days.  The fi nal tranche of 8,000,000 
shares will vest upon the closing price of SLA ordinary shares traded on the Australian Securities Exchange equalling or 
exceeding $1.60 for 3 consecutive trading days.  The 28,000,000 shares have 4 years to vest from issue date.

Issue of Options to the Executive Chairman

Shareholders approved the issue of 6,000,000 options with an exercise price of $0.50 to the Executive Chairman at the 
2008 AGM.  The options expire on 30 November 2011 and each option can be exercised for 1 ordinary share in Solagran 
Limited.  The Executive Chairman exercised 2,600,000 options during the 2009/10 fi nancial year.  The options granted do 
not carry any dividend or voting rights.

Details of directors options outstanding during the fi nancial year

2011

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance at 
beginning of 

year

Granted 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of year

Exercisable 
at end of 

year

1-Dec-08 30-Nov-11 $ 0.50 3,400,000 - - - 3,400,000 3,400,000

3,400,000 - - - 3,400,000 3,400,000

Weighted average exercise price

2010

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance at 
beginning of 

year

Granted 
during the 

year

Forfeited 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of year

Exercisable 
at end of 

year

1-Dec-08 30-Nov-11 $ 0.50 6,000,000 - - (2,600,000) 3,400,000 3,400,000

6,000,000 - - (2,600,000) 3,400,000 3,400,000

Weighted average exercise price $0.50

No options were exercised during the 2010/11 fi nancial year. During the 2009/10 fi nancial year Dr Vagif Soultanov 
exercised 2,600,000 options at a weighted average exercise price of $0.50.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at 30 June 2011 is 5 months (2010: 17 
months).
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NOTE  27  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parent entity

Solagran Limited is the parent entity of the Group.

Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Consolidated
2011

$
2010

$

Sale of goods and services

Sale of Bioeffective products to

Eastok Pty Ltd 30,923 13,909

Sale of goods to Eastok Pty Ltd were made on similar terms to other customers of the Group.  Eastok Pty Ltd is an entity 
controlled by Solagran’s Executive Chairman, Dr Vagif Soultanov.

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Payment for services

Payment for rental of storage space, offi ce facilities and for staffi ng

services provided by Eastok Pty Ltd 132,000 125,636

All payments for services from related parties were on normal commercial terms.  

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Loans from related parties

Loan from Solamind Pty Ltd 3,128,064 1,550,064

Solamind Pty Ltd is an entity associated with Dr Vagif Soultanov.  The loan is fully drawn-down and is provided to Solagran 
on an unsecured, interest-free basis.  The loan is at call.
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NOTE  28  KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

A. Key management personnel

The following persons were key management personnel of Solagran Limited during the fi nancial year.

Name Position Held

Vagif Soultanov Executive Chairman

Alexander Kurganov Executive Director

Andi Solaiman Non-Executive Director 

David Croll  Finance Director 

Justyn Stedwell Company Secretary 

Branko Jovanovic Chief Executive offi cer (resigned 28 July 2010)

Mr Vladimir Karpitsky Director of Science – Russia

Ms Natalia Arshavskaya Director of Marketing – Russia

Ms Nelli Shekhova Head of Finance – Russia

Mr Vladimir Trusov Head of Medical Development - Russia   

B. Key management personnel compensation

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Short-term employee benefi ts 492,194 388,369

Post employment benefi ts 18,066 17,120

Total 510,260 405,489

Further information regarding the identity of key management personnel and their compensation can be found in the 
Audited Remuneration Report contained in the directors’ report.
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NOTE  28  KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

A. Equity Instruments

Options and Rights Holdings

Details of options and rights held directly, indirectly or benefi cially by key management personnel and their related parties 
are as follows:

Name Balance 
at 1 July 

2010

Granted as 
compensation

Options 
Exercised

Other 
Changes

Balance 
at 30 June 

2011

Total Vested 
at 30 June 

2011

Total 
Vested and 
exercisable 
at 30 June 

2011

Total vested 
and not 

exercisable at 
30 June 2011

Dr Vagif 
Soultanov

3,400,000 - - - 3,400,000 3,400,000 3,400,000 -

Total 3,400,000 - - - 3,400,000 3,400,000 3,400,000 -

Name Balance at 
1 July 2009

Granted as 
compensation

Options 
Exercised

Other 
Changes

Balance 
at 30 June 

2010

Total Vested 
at 30 June 

2010

Total 
Vested and 
exercisable 
at 30 June 

2010

Total vested 
and not 

exercisable at 
30 June 2010

Dr Vagif 
Soultanov

6,000,000 - 2,600,000 - 3,400,000 3,400,000 3,400,000 -

Total 6,000,000 - 2,600,000 - 3,400,000 3,400,000 3,400,000 -

Shareholdings

Details of equity instruments (other than options and rights) held directly, indirectly or benefi cially by key management 
personnel and their related parties are as follows:

Name Balance as at 
1 July 2010

Granted as 
compensation

Received on 
exercise of 
option or 

rights

Other charges Balance at 30 
June 2011

Balance held 
nominally

Vagif Soultanov 7,736,425 - - - 7,736,425 4,921,034

Alexander Kurganov* 3,000,000 - - 1,500,000 4,500,000 4,500,000

Total 10,736,425 - - 1,500,000 12,236,425 9,421,034

Name Balance as at 
1 July 2009

Granted as 
compensation

Received on 
exercise of 
option or 

rights

Other charges Balance at 30 
June 2010

Balance held 
nominally

Vagif Soultanov 5,116,843 - 2,600,000 19,582 7,736,425 4,921,034

Alexander Kurganov* 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000

Total 8,116,843 - 2,600,000 19,582 10,736,425 7,921,034

*Mr Alexander Kurganov retains a benefi cial ownership of the shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of 
SibEX LLC.
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NOTE  28  KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

A. Equity instruments issued on exercise of remuneration options

Equity instruments issued during the period to key management personnel as a result of options exercised that had 
previously been granted as compensation are as follows:

2011 Shares issued Amount paid 
per share

Amount unpaid 
per share

Vagif Soultanov - - -

2010 Shares issued Amount paid 
per share

Amount unpaid 
per share

Vagif Soultanov 2,600,000 $0.50 -

B. Other transactions and balances

Administration Services

A director, Vagif Soultanov, is a director and shareholder of Eastok Pty Ltd, which provided administration services and 
offi ce facilities to the group during the fi nancial year. These services were based upon normal commercial terms and 
conditions

2011
$

2010
$

Administration Services and Offi ce Facilities provided by directors recognised as 
an expense during the year Eastok Pty Ltd

132,000 125,636

Aggregate amounts of liability at the end of the reporting period relating to consulting services with directors of the 
group are as follows:

2011
$

2010
$

Current liabilities - 10,183

C. Loans to Key Management Personnel

There are no loans to key management personnel.

NOTE 29 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE
There have been no events subsequent to reporting date that require additional disclosure.
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NOTE 30 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Consolidated

2011
$

2010
$

Audit services

Amounts paid/payable to BDO for audit or review of the fi nancial statements 
for the entity or any entity in the group

144,101 88,381

Amounts paid/payable to non-BDO audit fi rms for audit or review of the 
fi nancial statements for the entity or any entity in the group

20,673 13,750

164,774 102,131

Taxation services

Amounts paid/payable to the related practice of BDO for non-audit taxation 
services performed for the entity in the group:

- Review of income tax return 32,181 19,443

- International tax consulting - 35,700

32,181 55,143

NOTE 31 Variation Between Financial Accounts and Preliminary Report (Appendix 4E)

The Appendix 4E lodged on 31 August 2011 was based on preliminary fi gures which were subject to review. Between 
these two reports there has been two adjustments to previously reported values.

Adjustment 1.

As discussed in Note 3, the Board of Solagran Limited have determined that the debt owing by its distributor in Russia 
is potentially impaired and have raised an allowance for doubtful debts. Though Solagran believes that the debt will be 
recovered from the future sales of Ropren and other SibEX Trade-Marked products in Russia, it has elected to take a 
conservative approach and allow for impairment of the net balance owing of $1,326,314 at 30 June 2011.

Adjustment 2

Solathera Limited (Solathera) recently received an assessment notice for unpaid payroll tax for the years 2006/07 to 
2010/11. Solathera has formally objected to the assessment. A payable of $150,000 has been raised in Solathera’s accounts.

The effect of these adjustments are detailed in the table on the following page.
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NOTE 31 Variation Between Financial Accounts and Preliminary Report (Appendix 4E) (Continued)

Consolidated

2011

Final
$

2011

App 4E
$

Employee Expenses 1,694,617 1,544,617

Impairment of receivables 1,326,314 -

Loss for the year (9,103,863) (7,627,549)

Trade and Other Receivables 1,384,866 2,711,180

Trade and Other Payables 2,238,224 2,088,225

Net Assets  18,546,028  20,222,342

NOTE 32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
On 24 August 2010, Solagran was joined as a party to proceedings commenced by Gun Capital Management Pty Ltd 
alleging misrepresentation under the Trade Practices Act. Both parties attended court directed mediation in July 2011. 
The matter did not settle at mediation. Upon due consideration by the Board of Solagran it was determined that no 
contingent liability exists in relation to this matter at 30 June 2011.

There are no other contingent liabilities at the reporting date.

NOTE 33 COMPANY DETAILS
The registered offi ce and principal place of business for Solagran Limited is
Solagran Limited
Level 1, 480 St Kilda Road
Melbourne VIC 3004
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Solagran Limited (the Company) and the Board of Directors (the Board) are committed to Corporate Governance and, to 
the extent they are appropriate to the Company, have adopted the  Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best 
Practice Recommendations as published by the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council (the 
Council).
The recommendations are not prescriptions, they are guidelines. The Council recognises that the range in size and 
diversity of companies is signifi cant and that smaller companies from the outset may face particular issues in following all 
recommendations. If a company considers that a recommendation is inappropriate to its particular circumstances, it has the 
fl exibility not to adopt it.
The Board of Directors has adopted the best practice recommendations as outlined by the Council to the extent that is 
deemed appropriate for the size and operations of the Company. Therefore, where the Board considers that the cost of 
implementing a recommendation outweighs any potential benefi ts, those recommendations have not been adopted.

This Statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place during the fi nancial year, noting where practices 
depart from the Council’s recommendations and the Board’s reasons for an alternate approach. 

The following additional information about the Company’s corporate governance practices will be set out on the 
Company’s website at www.solagran.com
- Summary of policy on securities trading;
- Summary of continuous disclosure policy;
- Summary of arrangements regarding communication with shareholders;
- Summary of Company’s risk management policy; and
- Code of Conduct.

Principle 1 - Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Functions of the Board and Management
The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the Group’s long-term success. The Directors 
are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the longer term. Their key 
focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Group is properly managed. 

Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy initiatives are 
delegated by the Board to the Executive Chairman or when that position is not fi lled, the Executive Directors.

The Board of Directors of Solagran Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board 
guides and monitors the business of the Company on behalf of shareholders, by whom they are elected and to whom they 
are accountable. The Board is responsible for setting corporate direction, defi ning policies and monitoring the business of 
the Company to ensure that it is conducted appropriately and in the best interests of shareholders. It is the role of senior 
management to manage the Company in accordance with the direction and delegations of the Board; the Board will 
oversee the activities of management in carrying out these delegated duties.

The Board’s key objectives are to:
• increase shareholder value within an appropriate framework which safeguards the rights and interests of the 

Company’s shareholders;
• to ensure the Company is properly managed and operates with effective cost and risk controls;
• to ensure that the Company invests funds in properly managed research projects; and

to ensure that the Company’s products (Bioeffectives) are given the opportunity to become commercial and 
viable products in the worldwide market
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Evaluating the Performance of Senior Executives
On at least an annual basis, the Board conducts a formal performance review of the Executive Chairman or equivalent and 
other key management personnel (KMP). The Board assesses the performance of KMP against qualitative and quantitative 
key performance indicators relevant to each KMP. Feedback on the performance of each KMP is provided and a plan is 
established to encourage, improve and monitor future performance. A performance review of KMP occurred during the 
2011 fi nancial year in accordance with this process.

Principle 2 - Structure the Board to add value

Structure of the Board
The skills, experience, expertise and period of offi ce of each director in offi ce throughout the year are included in the 
Directors’ Report.  As at the date of this report, the Board is composed of three executive directors, Vagif Soultanov, 
David Croll & Alexander Kurganov, and one non-executive director, Andi Solaiman.

The Board assesses whether a director is independent in accordance with the Council’s independence guidelines.  There are 
currently no independent directors on the Board and the Board does not consist of a majority of independent directors.  
During the 2011 fi nancial year, the Board considers that the Company was not currently of a size, nor were its affairs of 
such complexity to justify the expense of appointing additional independent non-executive Directors.  The Board considers 
that the relationships which defi ne all of the directors as non-independent have been, and continue to be, of benefi t to the 
company. It is not considered that the relationship of non-independent directors affects their capacity to bring independent 
judgement to bear on Board decisions.

The Board is chaired by Vagif Soultanov who is not an Independent Director.  The Board believes that Dr Vagif Soultanov is 
the person who best understands the technical nature and background of the Company’s business. Dr Soultanov is highly 
qualifi ed in the areas of Solagran’s business pursuit and can make informed decisions on all relevant issues falling within the 
scope of the role of a Chairman.

The Board considers that given these factors the appointment of an independent Chairman is not justifi ed.
The Board is responsible for the nomination and selection of directors.  A separate Nomination Committee has not been 
formed. The Board considers that at this stage in the Company’s development, no benefi ts or effi ciencies are to be gained 
by delegating this function to a separate committee.  

The Board as a whole undertakes the process of reviewing the skill base and experience of existing Directors to enable 
identifi cation or attributes required in new Directors.  Where appropriate, independent consultants may be engaged to 
identify possible new candidates for the Board.

Board Performance
The Board considers the ongoing development and improvement of its own performance, the performance of individual 
directors and Board Committees as critical to effective governance.

The Board has adopted a self-evaluation process to measure its own performance.  The performance of the Board and 
individual directors is reviewed at least every two years by the Board as a whole. This process includes a review in relation 
to the composition and skills mix of the Directors of the Company. 

Performance reviews involve analysis based on predetermined performance objectives. The criteria for evaluating 
performance, is aligned with the fi nancial and non-fi nancial objectives of the Company. The Board will consider the 
outcome of each review and develop a series of actions to guide and monitor improvement.

A most recent performance review conducted in accordance with the processes disclosed occurred during the 2011 
fi nancial year.

Commitments
Each member of the Board is committed to spending suffi cient time on Company matters to enable them to 
effectively carry out their duties as a Director of the Company. 

The Board holds at least 6 scheduled meetings each year. For details of the number of Board meetings held throughout the 
year and the number of meetings attended by each director refer to the Directors’ Report.
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Independent Professional Advice

With the prior approval of the Chairman, Directors may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Term of Offi ce

The Company’s Constitution specifi es that Director’s must retire from offi ce on a two year rotational basis.

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making

Code of Conduct
The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct to guide the Directors, Offi cers and Employees.
All Directors, Offi cers and Employees will:
- Actively promote the highest standards of ethics and integrity in carrying out their duties for the Company;
- Disclose any actual or perceived confl icts of interest of a direct or indirect nature of which they become aware and 

which they believe could compromise in any way the reputation or performance of the Company;
- Respect confi dentiality of all information of a confi dential nature, which is acquired in the course of the Company’s 

business and not disclose or make improper use of such confi dential information to any person unless specifi c 
authorisation is given for disclosure or disclosure is legally mandated;

- Deal with the Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors and each other with the highest level of honesty, fairness 
and integrity and to observe the rule and spirit of the legal and regulatory environment in which the Company 
operates; and 
Protect the assets of the Company to ensure availability for legitimate business purposes and ensure all corporate 
opportunities are enjoyed by the Company and that no property, information or position belonging to the Company 
or opportunity arising from these are used for personal gain or to compete with the Company.

Trading in the Company’s Securities by Directors, Offi cers and Employees
The Board has adopted a policy and procedure on dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors, Offi cers and employees 
which prohibits dealing in the Company’s securities when those persons possess unpublished market price sensitive 
information. It also requires Directors to notify the Chairman of the Company when trading in the Company occurs. In the 
case of the Chairman, he must notify the Company Secretary.

Directors must also notify the Company Secretary of any trade in the Company’s securities within 2 days of such trade 
occurring so that the Company Secretary can comply with ASX Listing Rule 3.19A.2 requirement to notify ASX of any 
change in a notifi able interest held by a Director.  

Consistent with the insider trading provisions of the Corporations Act, all of the Company’s directors, offi cers and 
employees are prohibited from trading in the Company’s shares or procuring another person to deal in Company shares 
while in possession of Inside Information concerning the Company.

Directors, offi cers and employees should never communicate any Inside Information to any other person, including family 
members and associates. In addition, directors, offi cers and employees are prohibited from trading in the Company’s 
shares during:

• each period of 6 weeks  immediately prior to the intended date upon which the Company releases its annual 
fi nancial statements to the ASX;

• each period of 6 weeks immediately prior to the intended date upon which the Company releases its half year 
fi nancial statements to the ASX;

• each period of 1 week immediately prior to the intended date upon which the Company releases it quarterly 
cash fl ow (appendix 4C); 

• each period of 4 hours immediately after the time upon which the Company issues a price-sensitive ASX 
announcement; 

• each period of 14 days immediately prior to the intended date upon which the Company holds its Annual 
General Meeting; and

• any other time the Board of Solagran decides at its discretion.

No director, offi cer or employee may deal in Company shares at any time for short-term gain, including buying and selling 
Company shares in a 3 month period, without the written approval of the Chairman or, in the case of the Chairman, the 
Board of Directors.



73

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Company’s Share Trading Policy was lodged with the ASX as an ASX announcement on 4 January 2011 and will be 
available on the Company’s website.

Reporting Unethical or Illegal Practices
Company policy requires employees who are aware of unethical or illegal practices to report these practices to 
management. Any reports of unethical or illegal practices are investigated by management or the Board. Reporters of 
unethical practices may remain anonymous.

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in fi nancial reporting

Audit Committee
A separate Audit Committee has not been formed. The Board considers that at this stage in the Company’s development and 
given the size of the Board, no benefi ts or effi ciencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a separate committee.
The Board as a whole undertakes the functions normally associated with an Audit Committee.

External Auditor
The Board is responsible for appointing the External Auditor, subject to shareholder approval.
Following each audit, the Board conducts a review of the audit process and the performance and independence of the 
external auditor.  The external auditor must be able to demonstrate complete independence from the Company and an 
ability to maintain independence through its engagement period.

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure

Continuous Disclosure Policy
The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy that requires all Directors, Offi cers and Executives to inform 
the Chairman and the Company Secretary of any potentially material information as soon as practicable after they become 
aware of that information.

Information is material if it is likely that the information would infl uence investors who commonly acquire securities on ASX 
in deciding whether to buy sell or hold the Company’s securities. 
The Chairperson is responsible for interpreting and monitoring the Company’s Disclosure Policy and where necessary 
informing the Board.

The Company Secretary has been nominated as the person responsible for communications with the ASX. This role includes 
responsibility for ensuring compliance with the Continuous Disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing 
and coordinating information disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public.

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders

Shareholder Communication Policy
The Company respects the rights of its shareholders and to facilitate the effective exercise of those rights, the Company is 
committed to:

• communicating effectively with shareholders; 
• providing shareholders with ready access to balanced and understandable information about the company and 

corporate proposals ; and
• making it easier for shareholders to participate in general meetings of the company 

The Company’s communications are intended to ensure regular and timely release of information about the company to 
shareholders by way of:

• releases to the market via the Company Announcements Platform of ASX to comply with continuous and periodic 
disclosure requirements; 

• Half Yearly Reports and Annual Reports; 
• presentations at Annual General and General Meetings 
• information posted on the company’s website 

The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at Annual General and General Meetings, and uses these meetings 
to assist shareholders in understanding the Company’s objectives and strategies in relation to its business activities.
The Company also makes available a telephone number for shareholders to make enquiries of the Company, the number 
is listed on all ASX announcements and on the Company’s website.
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

Risk Management
The Board is responsible for risk management and control and they examine and consider areas of signifi cant business risk 
on an ongoing basis and implement policy to minimise exposure to these risks.

Arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor risk management include:

- Technical review of all products prior to clinical trials and identifi cation of possible product risk factors in trials;
- Monitoring all product liability and insurance policies;
- Constant review of cash resources and cash projection; and
Review of staff structure and roles. 

The risk management system involves a multi�stage process of risk identifi cation, analysis, evaluation, strategy 
development, strategy implementation, monitoring and review.
Executive management reports to the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business 
risks. In addition, the Board undertakes a review of all major activities to asses risk and the effectiveness of strategies 
implemented to manage risk.

Executive Chairman and Finance Director Certifi cations

The Finance Director and Chief Executive Offi cer equivalent have provided written statements to the Board, in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act, stating that:

• the Company’s fi nancial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s fi nancial condition 
and operational results are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; and

• the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effi ciently and effectively in all 
material respects.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The Board determines the level of remuneration for Directors and executives based on the provision of services to the 
Company for executive management and for their services as Directors. Remuneration levels were set with reference 
to industry and market conditions and with regard to the size, nature and volume of operations and overall market 
capitalisation of the Company. In addition, all matters of remuneration will continue to be determined in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001 requirements, especially in respect of related party transactions. That is, no Directors participate 
in any deliberations regarding his own remuneration or related issues.

A separate Remuneration Committee has not been formed. The Board considers that based on the Company’s stage of 
development and the size of the Board, no benefi ts or effi ciencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a separate 
committee.  

The payment of equity based executive remuneration is made in accordance with thresholds set in plans approved by 
shareholders.

Non-Executive Directors

The maximum total amount to be paid to Non-Executive Directors was approved by shareholders at an Annual General 
Meeting and is currently $180,000.

Executive Remuneration

Executive remuneration and other terms of reference are reviewed annually by the Board and are set at fair market value 
and not based on the performance of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

DECLARATION BY DIRECTORS

The directors of the company declare that:
1. The fi nancial statements, comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of fi nancial position, 

statement of cash fl ows, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and: 

(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position as at 30 June 2011 and of the performance for the year 
ended on that date of the consolidated entity.

2. The company has included in the notes to the fi nancial statements an explicit and unreserved statement of 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

3. In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable.

4. The remuneration disclosures included in the directors’ report (as part of the audited Remuneration Report) for the 
year ended 30 June 2011, comply with Section 300 A of the Corporations Act 2001

5. The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive offi cer and chief fi nancial offi cer required by 
section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the 
directors by:

Vagif Soultanov

Executive Chairman

Dated at Melbourne the 30th day of September, 2011.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the members of Solagran Limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial report of Solagran Limited, which comprises the consolidated statement of 
fi nancial position as at 30 June 2011, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash fl ows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 
signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity 
comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the fi nancial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the fi nancial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the fi nancial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the fi nancial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fi nancial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial 
report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the fi nancial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the fi nancial report that gives a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the fi nancial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confi rm 
that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of Solagran 
Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.
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AUDIT REPORT

Opinion 

 In our opinion: 

(a)  the fi nancial report of Solagran Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2011 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the fi nancial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

Material Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(b) in the fi nancial statements which indicates that the 
consolidated entity incurred a net loss of $9,103,863 and net operating cash outfl ows of $9,409,887 during the year 
ended 30 June 2011.  These conditions, along with other matters set forth in Note 1(b), indicate the existence of a 
material uncertainty which may cast signifi cant doubt on the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and therefore whether it will realise its assets and liabilities in the normal course of business and at the values stated in 
this fi nancial report.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2011. The 
directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, 
based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Solagran Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011 complies with section 
300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

BDO Audit (NSW-VIC) Pty Ltd

NICK MICHAEL

Director

Melbourne, 30 September 2011
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares  Shares  %

Ace Aim Pte Ltd  48,916,918 14.2%

Solalife Pty Ltd  28,000,000 8.2%

AMMF Investments Pty Ltd  22,500,000 6.6%

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  18,171,466 5.3%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  15,173,913 4.4%

Petrograd Investments Pty Ltd  13,850,000 4.0%

Avondry Pty Ltd  6,661,221 1.9%

Mr Gavin Peter Herholdt  5,320,000 1.5%

Ci  corp Nominees Pty Ltd  4,997,620 1.5%

Eastok Pty Ltd  4,921,034 1.4%

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  4,664,633 1.4%

Brinvest Pty Ltd  4,568,000 1.3%

Bronte Investments Pty Ltd  4,154,800 1.2%

BT Por  olio Services Limited  3,733,000 1.1%

Mr Abu Sahid Mohamed  3,333,334 1.0%

Adnil (VIC) Pty Ltd  3,255,200 0.9%

Ost-Kim Pty Ltd  3,230,592 0.9%

Dr Vagif Soultanov  2,734,349 0.8%

Gasmere Pty Ltd  2,204,000 0.6%

James Street Equi  es Pty Ltd  2,200,000 0.6%

   

Total held by Top 20 Shareholders  202,590,080 59.0%

Remaining Balance  140,920,083 41.0%

Total  343,510,163 100.0%

Range Total 
Holders

Units % of 
Issued 
Capital

1 - 1,000 216 100,733 0.03

1,001 - 5,000 576 1,799,940 0.52

5,001 - 10,000 350 2,862,136 0.83

10,001 - 100,000 840 31,369,375 9.13

More than 100,000 298 307,377,979 89.48

Total 2280 343,510,163 100

Range of Shareholders at
 4 October 2011

Top 20 Holders as at 4 October 2011
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